## FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/25/2019 4:50 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97891-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

-----

COA No. 78236-3-I

#### RICHARD DENNIS GROVES,

Petitioner,

v.

MARY NOONAN GROVES,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Suzanne Parisien

## **DENNIS GROVES' PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Gregory M. Miller, WSBA No. 14459

CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 Telephone: (206) 622-8020 Facsimile: (206) 467-8215 *Attorneys for Respondent Dennis Groves* 

## **

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Dennis Groves ("Petitioner" or "Dennis"<sup>1</sup>) asks this Court to accept review of the decision or parts of the decision designated in Part II of this motion, *In re Marriage of Groves*, \_\_\_\_ Wn.App.2d \_\_\_, 447 P.3d 643 (2019) ("Decision" or "Slip Op."). Copies of the Decision and of the October 24, 2019, order denying reconsideration are in the Appendix.

The central issue is whether a LEOFF I total disability allowance is divisible property in a marital dissolution. Here the disability allowance is for a Seattle Firefighter who had 28 years of service before his back discs were injured in a fall while fighting a fire at night at Fisherman's Terminal (*see* RB pp. 10-11), after he had been married to Respondent Mary Groves ("Mary") for only one year. Dennis was disqualified from any future firefighting work, which he loved, by a Disability Board physician and forced to take disability – he had no option to take a pension, or to continue working for the Department for another ten to fifteen years or longer, as he had planned.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The parties are referred to by their first names for clarity, as at the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals mistakenly determined that Dennis' disability allowance – compensation for his permanently disabling personal injuries as well as for lost future income – was community property that could be divided and given in part or whole to Mary. Slip Op. p. 10. It ruled so even though it is an income stream that represents Dennis' future income that he receives after the date of separation and divorce, when the separate and apart statute provides that his post-marital earnings are his separate property and not subject to division. Instead, the Decision found that it was, in fact, a service pension and thus was not compensation for lost future income. Slip Op., p. 10. Necessarily, it also found that it was not compensation for his disabling personal injuries, though that

This Court has not addressed disability pensions of any sort in the context of dissolutions this century. It most recently addressed disability allowance in *In re Marriage of Brewer*, 137 Wn.2d 756, 976 P.2d 756 (1999), when it held that disability pensions are the disabled spouse's separate property and not subject to division. In that case the disability payments were from private insurance the premiums for which were paid, at least in part, by community funds during the marriage. Before *Brewer*, this Court addressed disability pensions in an unusual setting in *Arnold v. Dep't of Retirement Systems*, 128 Wn.2d 765, 912 P.2d 463 (1996) in which the exspouse challenged LEOFF as unconstitutional to try and obtain a share, after the divorce proceeding. In the course of rejecting the exspouse's claim, this Court relied on *In re Marriage of Kraft*, 119 Wn.2d 438, 832 P.2d 871 (1992), to implicitly rule that disability allowances which replace future income and compensate for injuries are not divisible in a dissolution, but that relief for a spouse can still be available by taking the income stream into account in the overall property division:

The teaching of *Kraft* is that when a court is statutorily unable to award a portion of what might otherwise be a community asset to one spouse upon dissolution, the court may consider the economic circumstances of the parties to justify a disproportionate award of community property.

Arnold, 128 Wn.2d at 782.

As discussed *infra*, *Brewer* clarified the landscape of disability allowances and pensions in the dissolution context. But this case illustrates that, though correctly decided, *Brewer* is not being applied, perhaps because it is not a public service disability allowance, but was private insurance. This case provides the Court the opportunity to clearly and unequivocally state what the rule is going forward in addressing disability allowances in the dissolution setting, consistent with the principles that drove *Brewer*: the then-recent decisions regarding the separate nature of payment for personal injuries in *Marriage of Brown*, 100 Wn.2d 729, 675 P.2d 1207 (1984); and the fact the payments constitute a replacement of future income, not deferred compensation for past service like a service pension.

This Court should take review not just because the Decision conflicts with *Brewer* and *Arnold*, but also because the range of Court of Appeals decisions to choose from as seen in the Decision shows there is no clear rule that is being followed.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Decision made a number of errors in reviewing and applying the record, in addition to the analytical errors in addressing Dennis' disability allowance. It held the trial court incorrectly characterized and failed to divide Dennis' future disability – which it mischaracterized as "the parties' most substantial asset" (Slip Op., p. 2, App. A-2) – thereby making the final property division "unfair, unjust, and inequitable," *id.*, even though their house sale netted them \$1,153,634. CP 1123.

Mary Groves, then 61, received half of all separate and community real and personal property that was before the court – precisely what she requested in her proposed property division submitted at the start of trial. *See* Ex. 101, App. A-17 hereto. As a result, Mary received nearly \$1 Million in liquid assets, no debt, and five years of maintenance to bridge her to Medicare eligibility.

Division I vacated the property award on the basis that Dennis' disability allowance was divisible community property and that because it was not divided, the overall property division was not fair, just, and equitable. Dennis sought reconsideration, the panel called for an answer, allowed his reply, then let the initial decision stand.

## III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is a LEOFF I disability retirement allowance a "marital asset" that can be divided in a dissolution, or do this Court's decisions in *Brewer v. Brewer* and *Arnold v. Retirement Systems* still control such that the post-marital income stream cannot be "divided", even though it can be taken into account when determining maintenance or a disproportionate division of marital property?
- 2. Assuming a LEOFF I disability retirement allowance has attributes of a pension, is the non-LEOFF I spouse's potential share limited to the portion of that retirement allowance that was earned during the marriage and calculated under the time-rule principles of *In re Marriage of Short and In re Marriage of Rockwell* and associated cases?
- 3. Where the non-firefighter spouse received exactly half of the divisible community and separate property as requested, which is nearly \$1 Million and no debt, plus five years' maintenance designed to bridge her to Medicare, and has the demonstrated ability to manage investments in real property and liquid assets, while the disabled firefighter spouse was 75 years at trial, did the Court of Appeals err by concluding the overall property division was not "fair, just, and equitable" when the appellate court never saw the parties or heard any of the testimony?

#### **IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED**

A. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) to address the conflict with this Court's decisions in *In re Marriage of Brewer, Arnold v. Retirement Systems,* and underlying Court of Appeals decisions on the treatment of disability allowances in marital dissolutions. This Court has not addressed the character of disability payments in a dissolution this century, not since *Brewer* in 1999, and, before then, in *Arnold* in 1996.

In re Marriage of Brewer, 137 Wn.2d 756, 976 P.2d 756

(1999), clarified the law, reaffirming the rule that disability payments are not community property, particularly where, as here, they compensate for the injury to the disabled worker and lost future compensation. *See Brewer*, 137 Wn.2d at 766-768, 770, and 137 Wn.2d at 772-774 (Guy, J, concurring). *Accord, In re Marriage of Anglin*, 52 Wn. App. 317, 759 P.2d 1224 (1988) (disability allowance was not a pension).

The pre-*Brewer* cases on which the Decision relied, which found a pension aspect to disability, involved a *choice* – the choice to take disability "*in lieu of*" a service pension, a situation not present here. For instance, in *Knies*, the state trooper's *choice* to take disability instead of a service pension was the difference:

By <u>choosing to accept</u> the disability benefits <u>in lieu of</u> retirement, only six days before he was eligible to retire,

## albeit six years after entry of the dissolution decree, <u>Mr.</u> <u>Knies effectively altered the character of his disability to</u> <u>one of deferred compensation that can now be subject to</u> <u>property division.</u>

*In re Marriage of Knies*, 96 Wn.App. 243, 252, 979 P.2d 482 (1999) (emphasis added). Dennis did not have a choice to take the service pension. CP 223-225; see Dennis' Motion for Reconsideration at the Court of Appeals, pp. 13-19. He did not, like Trooper Knies, act "to alter" his disability allowance to deferred compensation. There was no element of personal choice by Dennis in his receipt of the disability allowance.

As to the disability allowance being an "asset" of the marriage, it is important to recall that at the outset of trial Mary did not list the disability allowance as an item of property to be divided on her exhibit 101 (Mary's "Asset and Debt Worksheet"), submitted to the trial court at the beginning of trial, and in the appendix at p. A-17, attached hereto. It was never valued by the parties or the Court. It always was an income stream of money to compensate Dennis for future work he could not do, and to also compensate him for his injuries which, under *Brown*, is his separate property. *Accord*, *Brewer* (disability insurance policy payments was separate property of injured spouse, even though premiums were paid for with community funds, relying on *Brown* and other cases).

The appropriate analysis for characterization of the disability allowance is not the inconsistent, pre-*Brewer* Court of Appeals decisions which the Decision relied on. Rather, true to *Brewer* and *Arnold*, and to RCW 26.16.140, such disability payments are the separate property that, when deposited into community accounts as Dennis did throughout the marriage, converted those payments into community property. But once the parties separate and the payments were deposited into Dennis' separate account, they were separate and remain separate. RCW 26.16.140.<sup>2</sup> This is in accord with *Brewer*, and particularly with the analysis in the concurrence.

Dennis was granted a right under LEOFF I of an award for the injuries he sustained on the job as a first responder and for his future lost income after he could no longer serve. The disability award is limited only by his life.

It must be kept in mind that the disability allowance is a benefit granted by the legislature in its appreciation for the risks and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RCW 26.16.140 states: "When spouses or domestic partners are living separate and apart, their respective earnings and accumulations shall be the separate property of each."

service of first responder firefighters like Dennis. It is particularly poignant here where Dennis was injured in a roof-top fall while fighting a fire at night at Seattle's Fisherman's Terminal in 1992. *See* RB 10-11, and record cites therein. This benefit was never altered. Its nature was never reconsidered until the novel Decision of the Court of Appeals. The Decision effectively alters that legislative grant of this specific benefit to Dennis in 1993 for his injuries and lost future pay. According to the logic of the Decision, sometime over the course of this marriage Dennis' statutory benefit was altered, unbeknownst to all involved, and "effectively supplanted the retirement benefits" he did not receive. *See* Decision, p. 10.

Tellingly, the Decision fails to specify any event that occurred which changed the statutory benefit granted to Dennis for his injuries and lost future income other than the passage of time. *See id.* Indeed, its analysis points to conflicting lines of authority in its footnotes 2 and 3 at page 10.

Nor does the Decision point to any part of the governing statutes which state that the statutory benefit granted Dennis – or other disabled firefighters – is a conditional grant which can be changed at some future time with no triggering event.

The Decision's reliance on Court of Appeals cases from the 1990's and earlier to assert a change to the nature of Dennis disability benefit due to the passage of time is also incorrect because those decisions: 1) did not have the benefit of *Brewer*; and 2) the notion of when a firefighter would retire has changed from the 1990's. The age discrimination laws have removed the earlier mandatory retirement requirements and many officers, particularly in leadership, continued to work into their seventies with service time of over 50 years. See RP 271-273 (Steve Brown testimony).<sup>3</sup> This undercuts the Decision's necessary predicate to transforming the disability allowance into a service pension that Dennis necessarily would have retired long before the dissolution. The only evidence in the record is that Dennis planned to work as long as he could because he loved the Department and his colleagues and that life – it was in a genuine sense his core family. He could well have been one of those Mr. Brown testified to who had 50 years of service when he finally retired. But he never got that chance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Steve Brown is the long-time executive secretary for the Seattle Firefighter's Pension Board. He testified at RP 249-310.

Dennis does not dispute that on dissolution the court can take that disability income stream into consideration in the property division and support orders and require support payments for a defined period, as could be done with post-marriage payments for child support. It just cannot "divide" it.

The Court should grant review because the Decision is in conflict with *Brewer* and its underlying principles.

B. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(4) to resolve the inconsistent treatment of disability allowances or pensions in marital dissolutions, which can be most simply resolved by embracing and applying the rationale of then-Chief Justice Guy's concurrence in *Brewer*.

Then-Chief Justice Guy stated that he "would clarify that post-dissolution wage-replacement benefits are not 'assets' that are before the trial court in a dissolution proceeding. [And that] courts and commentators alike have recognized the inconsistency in Washington's case law in this area." *In re Marriage of Brewer*, 137 Wn.2d at 772 (Guy, C.J., concurring, joined by Justices Alexander, Madsen and Durham). This case shows the kind of inconsistency that resulted from not adopting the clear rule suggested by Chief Justice Guy with his detailed analysis supported by the lions in this area of the law, including Professor Harry Cross of the University of Washington, the recognized academic authority in the field; Kenneth Weber, the author of the WASHINGTON PRACTICE treatise on family law; and the authors of the two relevant WSBA practice guides, the FAMILY LAW DESKBOOK and the COMMUNITY PROPERTY LAW DESKBOOK. *See Brewer*, 137 Wn.2d at 772-774.

Chief Justice Guy laid out his proposed solution:

In my view, we should clarify the law by overruling *Chase*<sup>[4]</sup> and hold: Disability payments which are in the nature of earnings replacement are treated the same as the earnings \*774 of a healthy spouse. Therefore, when the parties are married and not separated, the replacement earnings would be community property; assets purchased with or generated by community funds are assets belonging to the community. RCW 26.16.030. When the parties are separated, their earnings-whether a result of wage replacement disability benefits or of personal labor-are separate property. RCW 26.16.140. Future, post-dissolution earnings, whether received from employment, business ventures, investment, or disability benefits, are not "assets" which are before the court for disposition in a dissolution action. See Brown, 100 Wn.2d at 738, 675 P.2d 1207; In re *Marriage of Hall*, 103 Wn.2d 236, 247, 692 P.2d 175 (1984) (future earning capacity is not a marital asset). However, the \*\*113 trial court may consider such earnings when determining what constitutes a fair and equitable distribution of the assets and debts which are before the court. RCW 26.09.080 (economic circumstances of each spouse is a relevant factor in making a property disposition); Hall, 103 Wn.2d at 247, 692 P.2d 175; In re Marriage of Leland, 69 Wn.App. 57, 72, 847 P.2d 518 (1993). The trial court also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Chase v. Chase, 74Wn.2d 253, 444 P.2d 145 (1968).

may consider such earnings when determining the propriety and amount of any maintenance award. RCW 26.09.090.

Brewer, 137 Wn.2d at 773-774.

In effect, Dennis argued for the rule proposed in the concurrence, and which is consistent with RCW 26.16.140. He argued that the appropriate analysis for characterization of the disability allowance is that it is separate property that, when deposited into community accounts as Dennis did throughout the marriage, converted those payments into community property. And once the parties separated and the payments were deposited into Dennis' separate account, it was separate and remains separate.

What the dissolution court can do, and what Judge Parisien did here, was take that income stream into consideration in the property division and support orders and require support payments for a defined period, as could be done with post-marriage payments for child support. C. Review Should Be Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) To Eliminate The Confusion And Insure Consistency In Cases In Which Disability Allowances Are Considered to Have Service Pension Aspects Or Be Substitutes For Service Pensions By Emphasizing Application of The Time Rule.

Assuming that a disability pension can, post-Brewer, have

elements of a service pension, the Decision misapprehended the

basic principle for characterizing a service pension, or the "service-

pension-like portion" of Dennis' disability allowance. The settled

rule for characterizing service pensions is the "time rule" method,

i.e., the community property portion of the pension is tied to the

proportion of the pension that was earned during the marriage.

¶ 31 "Pension benefits constitute property rights in the nature of deferred compensation, even if benefits are not presently available." *In re Marriage of Bulicek*, 59 Wn.App. [630] at 636–37, 800 P.2d 394 [(1990)]. If the pension was accumulated partly prior to marriage and partly after marriage, it is proportionately classified, with the portion acquired during marriage characterized as community property. *See In re Marriage of Landry*, 103 Wn.2d 807, 699 P.2d 214 (1985).

*In re Marriage of Rockwell*, 141 Wn.App. 235, 251, 170 P.3d 572

(2007). See id at 251-254 (collecting and reviewing cases). Accord,

20 Scott J. Horenstein, WASHINGTON PRACTICE, FAMILY AND

COMMUNITY PROPERTY LAW § 32:16 (2nd ed., 2015) (hereafter

"Horenstein") ("the favored method [for determining the community

share of a retirement benefit] is the 'time rule' method."). *See also In re Marriage of Short*, 125 Wn.2d 865, 890 P.2d 12 (1995) (applying time rule for division of vesting stock options earned during the marriage).

If this Court does *not* accept the rule proposed by Chief Justice Guy, underlying decisions, and authorities and commentators that disability allowances cannot be divided in a dissolution but can at times have service pension components which are subject to division, this case would be a vehicle clarifying how to address any such division.

The evidence is undisputed that Dennis' service time was 95 per cent *before* the marriage, so the only community portion would be the remaining five per cent, of which he is entitled to half. See Response Brief pp. 37-38. This was a factor the trial court addressed. See CP 1001, FOF 16. The evidence was also undisputed, and the trial court found, that under the circumstances Dennis did not have a *choice* between a service pension and the disability allowance. *See* Response Brief, pp. 11-14; CP 1000-1001, FOF 9, 10, 15. Under the settled law for characterizing pensions of the time rule and the facts of this case, the disability allowance cannot be considered entirely community property. At most, it is five per cent community.

Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the

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