FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/8/2020 4:13 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97891-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

RICHARD DENNIS GROVES,

Petitioner,

and

MARY NOONAN GROVES,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

HANSEN LAW GROUP SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Craig Jonathan Hansen WSBA No. 24060

By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542 Valerie A. Villacin WSBA No. 34515

12000 NE 8th Street, Suite 202 Bellevue, WA 98005 (425) 709-6762 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

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

The husband's argument that after separation he alone is entitled to the benefit of his current tax-free disability income of

¹ In particular, there is no reason for this Court to waste judicial resources *in* this century reviewing a dispute considering a LEOFF I Plan; the Court's decision would apply to very few other cases because any individual hired and eligible for LEOFF after September 30, 1977 is covered under LEOFF Plan 2 – a much less generous system with different rules and benefits. *See City of Pasco v. Dep't of Ret. Sys.*, 110 Wn. App. 582, 587, n. 6, 42 P.3d 992, *rev. denied*, 147 Wn.2d 1017 (2002).

² Citations to the Court of Appeals decision is to the slip opinion attached as Appendix A to the petition for review.

almost \$6,000 a month, plus generous benefits, is premised on the claim accepted by the trial court: that he intended to work another 10 to 15 years but instead, at age 50, was "forced" to take a "poignant" retirement from his "family" in the Seattle Fire Department on a LEOFF I permanent disability pension. (Pet. 1, 10, 11) But over a quarter century after he retired, and at age 75 when the decree was entered, petitioner's tax-free pension and benefits indisputably replace retirement income, as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized. (App. A-10: "Dennis was eligible to retire when he became disabled. Moreover, by the time of trial Dennis was in his 70s and as such, it is reasonable to conclude that before dissolution Dennis would have retired.")

1. The Court of Appeals opinion is consistent with decisions from this Court and intermediate appellate courts holding that when a disability pension has substantial elements of retirement it should be treated as a community asset. (Answer to Petition 7-12)

This Court recognized that disability benefits may be "in fact deferred compensation" in *Arnold v. Dep't of Retirement Systems*, 128 Wn.2d 765, 778, 912 P.2d 463 (1996), as noted again by this Court in *Marriage of Brewer*, 137 Wn.2d 756, 768-69, 976 P.2d 102 (1999) – the two decisions with which petitioner claims the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts. Whether a disability pension has

"substantial elements of either deferred compensation or retirement" depends not on whether the retiree chose "to take disability in lieu of a service pension" (Pet. 7), but on whether "a party would be receiving retirement benefits but for a disability, so that disability benefits are effectively supplanting retirement benefits... [In that instance] the disability payments are a divisible asset to the extent they are replacing retirement benefits." *Marriage of Geigle*, 83 Wn. App. 23, 31, 920 P.2d 251 (1996).

In *Brewer*, this Court *rejected* the husband's argument that the disability policy proceeds at issue could not be a "divisible asset in marital dissolution proceedings." 137 Wn.2d at 768-69. Relying on *Arnold*, which "previously recognized disability payments which are in fact deferred compensation," this Court in *Brewer* held that payments under a disability insurance policy "which compensate for expenses incurred during the marriage, or earnings lost during the marriage or payments which are in fact deferred compensation, should be characterized as community property in proportion to the community's contribution." 137 Wn.2d at 770. In holding that the disability payments in *Brewer* were not deferred compensation, this Court relied on the trial court's conclusion that the disability policies

"were not intended for retirement purposes because they terminate when Petitioner reaches age 65." 137 Wn.2d 764.

The same is not true here. As the petitioner himself concedes, "the disability award is limited only by his life." (Pet. 9) Thus, as the Court of Appeals recognized (App. A-7), the disability payments here are more similar to those in *Marriage of Kollmer*, 73 Wn. App. 373, 377-78, 870 P.2d 978, rev. denied, 124 Wn.2d 1022 (1994), which held that a LEOFF I disability pension has a deferred compensation component and is "properly divisible" after the member turns 50. See also RCW 41.26.130. Because "any disability benefit Kollmer would be entitled to receive, up to the amount he would have received as retirement pay at that age, clearly will have characteristics of compensation for past services," the *Kollmer* court held a LEOFF I disability payment was community property and divisible. 73 Wn. App. at 378.

Similarly, Division One correctly recognized that in this case the husband was age 75 at the time of trial, "and likely would have been retired and would have been eligible for his LEOFF I pension." (App. A-6) "[B]ut for Dennis's disability, the marital community would have received Dennis's retirement benefits. The disability allowance effectively supplanted the retirement benefits." (App. A-

10) See also Marriage of Kittleson, 21 Wn. App. 344, 353, 585 P.2d167 (1978) (App. A-8); Marriage of Knies, 96 Wn. App. 243, 979 P.2d482 (1999) (App. A-6).

Division One properly interpreted *Kollmer* and related cases in holding that the disability pension at issue here has "substantial elements" of deferred compensation because the husband now receives it in place of his normal service retirement. RCW 41.26.090. 120, .130. The Court of Appeals opinion meets none of the criteria for further review under RAP 13.4(b).

2. The payments received by husband "supplant retirement benefits," and are not "post-dissolution wage replacement," which in any event would not be indivisible under RCW 26.16.140. (Answer to Petition 12-14)

Petitioner's reliance on Justice Guy's concurrence in *Brewer* as grounds for further review is misplaced because the payments here are not now "in the nature of earnings replacement." As Division One properly recognized, by the time the decree was entered, the disability pension "had the character of deferred compensation and not compensation for lost future income." (App. A-10) "Pension benefits constitute property rights in the nature of deferred compensation." *Marriage of Rockwell*, 141 Wn. App. 235, 251, ¶31, 170 P.3d 572 (2007), *rev. denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1055 (2008)

(quoting *Marriage of Bulicek*, 59 Wn. App. 630, 636-37, 800 P.2d 394 (1990)). These assets are subject to characterization and division on dissolution. *Marriage of Leland*, 69 Wn. App. 57, 72-73, 847 P.2d 518, *rev. denied*, 121 Wn.2d 1033 (1993) (App. A-10, n.3) (disability payments after retirement age divisible).

In arguing that the disability payments were not a divisible asset, petitioner makes much of the supposed failure of the wife to include the pension in the list of tangible assets subject to consideration and division. (Pet. 8) But at trial, *neither* party placed a lump sum value on the pension, and the wife sought distribution as the pension was paid out under RCW 41.26.053(3) (authorizing DRS "to pay benefits directly to an obligee under a dissolution order"); and as preferred by case law:

An award of pension rights on a percentage, asreceived basis is to be encouraged. Such a disposition avoids difficult valuation problems, shares the risks inherent in deferred receipt of the income, and provides a source of income to both spouses at a time when there will likely be greater need for it.

Bulicek, 59 Wn. App. at 638.

Indeed, contrary to the trial court's view that the husband's LEOFF I sinecure was "off limits" for consideration or division at dissolution, RCW 41.26.162 now contemplates that a LEOFF I disability pension can be a divisible asset even *after* a marriage ends,

allowing an ex-spouse to receive a "court-awarded portion of the member's benefit" after the member's death, and RCW 41.26.161 protects the former spouse's rights even in the "event of the nonduty connected death of any member . . . who is on disability leave or retired." RCW ch. 41.26, as amended in 2002 and 2005 (after this Court's decision in *Arnold*), now expressly protects an ex-spouse's right to disability benefits. RCW 41.26.053(3) requires DRS "to pay benefits directly to an obligee under a dissolution order." RCW 41.26.162 also contemplates that a LEOFF I disability pension can be a divisible asset even after a marriage ends, allowing an ex-spouse to receive a "court-awarded portion of the member's benefit" after the member's death. RCW 41.26.161 protects the former spouse's rights even in the "event of the nonduty connected death of any member . . . who is on disability leave or retired."

RCW 26.16.140, which provides that post-dissolution earnings are the separate property of the receiving spouse, has nothing to do with the division of the marital estate in this or any other case. Contrary to petitioner's assertion, the Court in *Brewer* upheld the trial court's award of the disability payments to the husband not because it was an indivisible "post-marital income stream" (Pet. 6), but because after a short-term, seven-year

marriage, the wife had received over \$422,000 in other assets, and the husband only \$55,000, plus the disability payments that would end when he reached age 65. 137 Wn.2d at 763. Petitioner's argument also ignores Justice Guy's own statement that "the trial court may consider such earnings when determining what constitutes a fair and equitable distribution of the assets." *Brewer*, 137 Wn.2d at 774 (citing RCW 26.09.080).

None of the equities that supported the award of disability insurance payments to the husband in *Brewer* exist here. The parties here lived off of the husband's disability pension as his retirement income for 25 years, when the wife otherwise could have been working for her own retirement. Although both parties are now at retirement age, the trial court awarded the husband 100% of the parties' most substantial asset; meanwhile the wife, who has no work experience over the last three decades, has no other income or separate property with which to support herself. The Court of Appeals opinion is wholly consistent with this Court's decisions in Brewer and Arnold, with the statutes governing LEOFF I disability pensions, and with well-established law governing characterization and division of disability pensions. should deny review.

B. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with neither Short nor Rockwell. The time rule method does not apply because a 1998 community property agreement converted all of the parties' assets into community property. (Answer to Petition 15-17)

In *Brewer* the Court also did not consider the consequence of a community property agreement – an agreement that the trial court relied on in awarding to the husband half the wife's pre-marriage retirement assets as community property, and an agreement that petitioner does not even mention in his petition. Petitioner's argument relying on *Marriage of Short*, 125 Wn.2d 865, 890 P.2d 12 (1995) and *Rockwell*, 141 Wn. App. 235, to claim that the time-rule method should be used to characterize "the service-pension-like portion of Dennis' disability allowance" from the disability portion that "cannot be divided in a dissolution" (Pet. 15-16) ignores that any otherwise separate contributions to the pension were entirely community property as a result of the parties' unchallenged community property agreement.

The trial court found that the parties "clearly" "intended to make everything" and "all of their property community" (CP 16-17; see CP 30) when in 1998 they signed a three-prong community property agreement. (App. A-3) Petitioner voluntarily dismissed his cross-appeal of that issue (Resp. Br. 4), and these findings are

verities on appeal. Yet the husband's petition for review does not mention the community property agreement, or the Court of Appeals' analysis of its effect, at all.

Division One recognized (App. A-10) that the trial court here erred in concluding, without regard to the community property agreement and based on the "time rule" argument resurrected in the petition (Pet. 15), that "[a]ny service related pension/allowance is owned for the most part (97.5%) by Dennis as his separate interests" (CP 29) and was not available for division or for consideration in the division of the marital estate. Even if "[t]he settled rule for characterizing service pensions is the 'time rule' method, i.e., the community property portion of the pension is tied to the proportion of the pension that was earned during the marriage" (Pet. 15) that rule has little relevance here given the parties' community property agreement. Thus review of the Court of Appeals opinion in this case would not be a proper "vehicle clarifying how to address any such division" (Pet. 16) when as a result of the community property agreement the pension was entirely community property, and further review for that purposes is not warranted.

C. The Court of Appeals did not "overstep its role" in remanding for reconsideration of the property division and maintenance award when the trial court itself recognized that its decision left the parties in "greatly disparate" financial circumstances after their long-term marriage. (Answer to Petition 17-20)

The trial court made a legal error in concluding that the husband's pension and the monthly income from it was "off limits" and not subject to division or consideration.³ As a consequence, the property division left the husband with the same tangible assets as the wife, nontaxable income of at least \$6,000 a month, and "generous" benefits, including free medical coverage and assisted care for life (RP 265-66, 288-90, 305), while the wife, who the trial court recognized could not work in any "meaningful way" (CP 26, 235), was awarded only \$1,600 per month in "limited" maintenance (the trial court's term) as a "bridge" to Medicare (the petitioner's term) in five years, and the prospect of less than a \$1,000 a month in Social Security benefits thereafter. (RP 847; Ex. 118; App. Br. 10)

³ Petitioner now appears to concede that the trial court could have considered his receipt of this tax-free income and generous benefits in its division of property and award of maintenance. (Pet. 12) At trial, however, he argued, and the trial court accepted based on its misinterpretation of *Marriage of Anglin*, 52 Wn. App. 317, 759 P.2d 1224 (1988) (discussed App. A-9), that the disability pension was indivisible separate property and should not be considered in division of the marital estate. (CP 14, 29, 44, 223-25, 231; *see* App. Br. 20-25)

The Court of Appeals properly recognized that remand was required because it is clear that the trial court's property division was "significantly influenced" by its mischaracterization of the pension, and it is not clear that the trial court would have divided it in the same way had it properly characterized it. *Marriage of Shannon*, 55 Wn. App. 137, 142, 777 P.2d 8 (1989) (cited App. A-4, App. A-11). While it (wrongly) thought its decision to be compelled by *Anglin*, the trial court itself recognized the "great disparity" in the parties' financial circumstances following their long-term marriage and its 50/50 split of the parties' tangible assets, including the wife's formerly-separate Roth IRA – the only retirement asset otherwise available to her, in part *because* of the husband's participation in the LEOFF I retirement system.

Because he is covered by LEOFF I, the husband receives only \$25 per month in Social Security. (RP 231, 238) If the husband was not in LEOFF I and instead received comparable Social Security retirement benefits, the wife would have received half of the amount of his Social Security retirement payments as his former spouse at age 66-1/2.4 Instead, she will only receive approximately \$960 per

⁴ Social Security Administration, "Benefits Planner: Retirement," available at https://www.ssa.gov/planners/retire/divspouse.html.

month, from her minimal Social Security work credits before the parties spent their 25 years of marriage enjoying life on the husband's "disability" pension. (RP 847; Ex. 118)

Although petitioner makes much of the award of other assets to the wife, he ignores that he received the same amounts, *plus* \$6,000 and generous benefits, tax-free, a month. Leaving aside the husband's continued gross mischaracterization of predistributions to both parties and the division of tangible assets,⁵ petitioner's unhelpful financial advice to his ex-wife of how she should take of advantage of the "terrific opportunity" offered by being left with the same tangible assets as he has and the prospect of less than a \$1,000 in Social Security benefits (Pet. 19), is not grounds for further review.

II. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.

⁵ Petitioner's factual misstatements are most succinctly rebutted in respondent's October 4, 2019 Answer to Motion for Reconsideration in the Court of Appeals, and will not be further addressed here, as they are as irrelevant to acceptance of review as his unsolicited financial advice.